SCA EFiled: Oct 23 2024 01:51PM EDT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINA Transaction ID 74847386

St. Joseph's Hospital of Buckhannon, Inc., Petitioner

v.) No. 24-347

Stonewall Jackson Memorial Hospital Co. and West Virginia Health Care Authority, Respondents

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ST. JOSEPH'S HOSPITAL OF BUCKHANNON, INC.

From The West Virginia Intermediate Court of Appeals, No. 23-ICA-265 On Appeal From The West Virginia Health Care Authority, CON File #23-7-12659-X

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

St. Joseph's Hospital of Buckhannon, Inc. d/b/a St. Joseph's Hospital ("St. Joseph's") appeals from the May 23, 2024, Opinion of the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia ("ICA") affirming the July 12, 2023, Amended Decision² of the West Virginia Health Care Authority (the "Authority") issued in the matter of *In re: Stonewall Jackson Memorial Hospital Co.*, CON File #23-7-12659-X. The Authority's Amended Decision determined that Stonewall Jackson Memorial Hospital Company ("Stonewall") could relocate its entire hospital without a Certificate of Need ("CON"). St. Joseph's raises the following assignments of error:

- Based on the recent United States Supreme Court decision in *Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo*, this Court should overrule syllabus points two through four of *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't*, 195 W. Va. 573, 579, 466 S.E.2d 424, 430 (1995) and its progeny and hold that a reviewing court must exercise independent judgment in deciding whether an agency has acted within its statutory authority.
- 2) The ICA and the Authority have misconstrued the plain language of W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(1), which provides that a CON is required for "[t]he construction, development, acquisition, or other establishment of a health care facility[.]"
- 3) The ICA and the Authority have failed to properly apply W. Va. Code § 16-2D-2(45) and W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(5), which require a CON for the relocation of beds from one physical facility or site to another when there is a capital expenditure.

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Over the past few years, Stonewall has sought to obtain the Authority's approval to relocate

² The Authority's original decision (Appx._0178-0188), which was issued on June 15, 2023, was amended when the Authority issued the Amended Decision (Appx._0025-0035) on July 12, 2023. St. Joseph's moved to strike the Amended Decision as ultra vires, but the ICA denied St. Joseph's motion and granted the Authority leave to amend. (*See* Appx._0023-0024).

its hospital campus to Staunton Drive near the I-79 Route 33 interchange, 4.2 miles from its current location. While Stonewall is fully aware that the location it has chosen for the construction of its new hospital will adversely impact the viability of St. Joseph's, Stonewall has made it abundantly clear that it does not care about such externalities and has obstinately refused to consider alternative locations for its project.

Originally founded in 1921, St. Joseph's is a 25-bed critical access hospital ("CAH") and the sole hospital located within and servicing the community of Buckhannon, Upshur County. St. Joseph's became a CAH on April 2, 2014.³ CAH status is a designation made by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS"), a federal agency within the United States Department of Health and Human Services, which enables qualified rural hospitals to be reimbursed on a costbasis for providing services to Medicare patients, as opposed to being reimbursed under prospective payment systems.⁴ The CAH program was implemented to address a rash of closings of rural hospitals across the country.⁵ Generally, to qualify for CAH status a hospital must, *inter alia*, be located more than 15 (mountainous terrain) miles from another hospital.⁶ Importantly, Stonewall's move of its hospital campus to Staunton Drive will destroy St. Joseph's CAH status because the proposed site is located approximately 12 miles from St. Joseph's, closer than the 15-mile threshold necessary for St. Joseph's to qualify as a CAH.⁷

In the summer of 2022, the Authority denied Stonewall's application for a CON to build a replacement acute care health care facility and move its hospital campus to Staunton Drive, finding that the project was not a superior alternative as required by the CON law and would "cause [St.

³ (Appx._0424-0425; Appx._0254).

⁴ (Appx._0392-0395).

⁵ (Appx._0426-0427).

⁶ See 42 C.F.R. § 485.610(c).

⁷ (*See* Appx._0428-0429; Appx._0253-0254).

Joseph's] to lose its CAH status which would have a significant detrimental financial effect on [St. Joseph's.]"⁸ The ICA affirmed that decision.⁹ Because "Stonewall failed to provide any independent evidence that it explored various alternatives or otherwise that alternative locations do not exist that would not affect St. Joseph's CAH status", the ICA held that "the Authority did not err in finding that Stonewall did not meet its burden of proving that superior alternatives to the services in terms of cost, efficiency, and appropriateness do not exist and that the development of alternatives is not practicable under W. Va. Code § 16-2D-12(b)(1) (2016)."¹⁰

Having failed to establish that its project is the superior alternative, Stonewall has now made an end run around the CON law by filing a request for a determination of reviewability ("RDOR") under W. Va. Code § 16-2D-7.¹¹ Section 16-2D-7 provides that "[a] person may make a written request to the authority for it to determine whether a proposed health service is subject to the certificate of need or exemption process." Relying on the Legislature's recent increase of the CON law's Expenditure Minimum, Stonewall argued¹² that the proposed construction of its new hospital no longer requires a CON because the Capital Expenditure associated with the project (\$56,000,000) is less than the Expenditure Minimum (raised to \$100,000,000).¹³

St. Joseph's intervened to oppose Stonewall's RDOR,¹⁴ arguing that Stonewall's project requires a CON because, *inter alia*, (a) it involves the construction of a health care facility, W. Va.

⁸ See In re: Stonewall Jackson Mem'l Hosp. Co., CON File 21-7-12157-H (Decision dated June 13, 2022) (Appx._0254).

⁹ Stonewall Jackson Mem'l Hosp. Co. v. St. Joseph's Hosp. of Buckhannon, Inc., No. 22-ICA-147, 2023 WL 4197305 (W. Va. App. June 27, 2023) (memorandum decision).

 $^{^{10}}$ *Id*. at *4.

¹¹ (Appx._0595-0597).

¹² (Appx._0595-0597).

¹³ Compare 2023 West Virginia Laws Ch. 255 (S.B. 613) ("Expenditure minimum' means the cost . . . above \$100 million") with 2017 West Virginia Laws Ch. 185 (H.B. 2459) ("Expenditure minimum' means the cost . . . above \$5 million"). The Expenditure Minimum is adjusted annually to account for inflation; the Expenditure Minimum for calendar year 2024 is \$104,300,000.00. (available at https://hca.wv.gov/Pages/default.aspx).

¹⁴ (*See* Appx._0593; Appx._0208-0216; Appx._0189-0195).

Code § 16-2D-8(a)(1) (providing that a CON is required for "[t]he construction, development, acquisition, or other establishment of a health care facility"); and (b) the project contemplates a substantial change in bed capacity, *see* W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(5); W. Va. Code § 16-2D-2 (45) ("Substantial change to the bed capacity' of a health care facility means any change, associated with a capital expenditure, that increases or decreases the bed capacity or relocates beds from one physical facility or site to another, but does not include a change by which a health care facility reassigns existing beds.").

Failing entirely to engage with the statutory text, the Authority held that Stonewall's project does not require a CON because "the West Virginia legislature raised the minimum capital expenditure for CON review . . . and [thereby] made it possible for Stonewall to relocate [its] entire hospital to a new location[.]"¹⁵ On appeal, the ICA affirmed, holding that the statute was ambiguous and that the Authority's determination was reasonable under step two of the *Chevron* analysis. As explained below, the ICA and the Authority have failed to properly apply W. Va. Code §§ 16-2D-8(a)(1), 16-2D-8(a)(5), and 16-2D-2(45).

V. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

As an initial matter, St. Joseph's submits that *Chevron¹⁶* has fallen out of favor and was overruled by the United States Supreme Court on June 28, 2024.¹⁷ This Court should likewise abandon *Chevron* deference and "exercise [its] independent judgment in deciding whether an agency has acted within its statutory authority."¹⁸

¹⁵ (Appx._0032; Appx._0185).

¹⁶ Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 81 L. Ed.2d 694 (1984).

¹⁷ See Loper Bright Enters. v. Raimondo, 144 S. Ct. 2244, 219 L Ed.2d 832 (2024).

¹⁸ *Id.* at 2273, 219 L Ed.2d at 867.

Regardless of whether or not the Court elects to apply the *Chevron* framework, the Authority's Amended Decision, which myopically focuses on the Expenditure Minimum and ignores other triggers requiring a CON, cannot stand.¹⁹ The CON law is unmistakably clear: the "construction . . . of a health care facility" is subject to CON review.²⁰ So is the relocation of beds to another physical site involving a Capital Expenditure—however small.²¹ Because the Authority found that Stonewall's project encompasses both of these actions (each of which is sufficient to trigger CON review), its ultimate determination of non-reviewability is erroneous and contrary to the plain language of the CON law. Each of these arguments was presented to the Authority and to the ICA below and are therefore properly before this Court.²²

Nonetheless, the ICA affirmed the Authority's Decision, holding that the Authority's determination was reasonable under step two of the *Chevron* analysis.²³ The ICA determined that "the Authority's construction of § 16-2D-8(a)(1) is that the words 'or other establishment' excludes a relocation because no new facility is being established, a pre-existing one is just moving into a new building" and that "the Authority has merely concluded that in a relocation, one reassigns the existing beds to the new facility, excluding a relocation from being a 'substantial change to bed capacity."²⁴ To be clear, these ideas are the product of the ICA and were not briefed by the parties.²⁵ The Authority never explained how W. Va. Code §§ 16-2D-8(a)(1), 16-2D-8(a)(5), and/or 16-2D-2(45) are unclear or ambiguous, and never attempted to offer its own construction of these provisions.²⁶

¹⁹ (*See* Appx._0025-0035; Appx._0178-0188).

²⁰ W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(1).

²¹ W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(5); see also W. Va. Code § 16-2D-2(45).

²² (*See, e.g.*, Appx._0208-216; Appx._0130-175).

²³ (Appx._0001-0024).

²⁴ (Appx._0018-0019).

²⁵ (*See* Appx._0037-0175; Appx._0189-0269).

²⁶ (*See* Appx._0025-0035; Appx._0178-0188).

The ICA has misconstrued W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(1), and has wholly ignored its plain language. Applying the plain and ordinary meaning of the term "construction", it is clear that Stonewall's project encompasses "[t]he construction . . . of a health care facility[.]"²⁷ Indeed, the ICA itself concluded that "Stonewall clearly plans to construct and develop a health care facility[.]"²⁸ That should have been decisive. Construction, development, acquisition, and even relocation are all forms of establishment, and pursuant to the doctrine of *ejusdem generis*, a generic term at the end of the series is construed by reference to the specific terms preceding it, and not vice versa.²⁹ The ICA's interpretation of establishment is unduly narrow and misapplies the surplusage cannon by reading the preceding terms (*e.g.*, construction) out of the statute.

The ICA further erred when it found that "the Authority has merely concluded that in a relocation, one reassigns the existing beds to the new facility[.]"³⁰ The Authority offered no such construction of W. Va. Code § 16-2D-2(45), and Stonewall never argued that it was merely reassigning its beds.³¹ The ICA should not have raised this issue.³² A reassignment is a conversion of beds of one type (*e.g.*, medical-surgical beds) to another type (*e.g.*, psychiatric beds), and does not encompass a relocation from one physical facility or site to another. The ICA's construction of W. Va. Code § 16-2D-2(45) improperly conflates the terms "relocates" and "reassigns", failing to appreciate the distinction drawn by the Legislature's juxtaposition of these terms.

Accordingly, St. Joseph's asks that the Court reverse the decisions of both the ICA and the Authority and remand the case to the Authority with instructions to enter an order requiring Stonewall to obtain a CON before commencing its project.

²⁷ W. Va. Code § 16-2D-8(a)(1).

²⁸ (Appx._0014).

²⁹ See W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd. v. Clark, 245 W. Va. 510, 520, 859 S.E.2d 453, 463 (2021).

³⁰ (Appx._0019).

³¹ (See Appx._0025-0035; Appx._0178-0188; Appx._0073-0129).

³² See Noble v. W. Va. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 223 W. Va. 818, 821, 679 S.E.2d 650, 653 (2009).

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case is not suitable for a memorandum decision and oral argument is appropriate pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the case involves an issue of fundamental public importance; the Authority's singular focus on the Expenditure Minimum and the ICA's constructions of W. Va. Code §§ 16-2D-8(a)(1) and 16-2D-8(a)(5) have dramatically and unwarrantedly restricted the scope of the CON law.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's "ruling on a matter subject to the Administrative Procedures Act is governed by the same statutory standards of review employed by the [ICA]."³³ The Authority's Decision is subject to judicial review under the standard of review for contested cases set forth in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g), which provides as follows:

> (g) The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decision or order are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency;
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures;
- (4) Affected by other error of law;
- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Under W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4, the Court "reviews questions of law presented de novo" and

"findings of fact by the administrative officer are accorded deference unless the reviewing court

³³ See Duff v. Kanawha Cnty. Comm'n, No. 23-43, 2024 WL 1715166, at *5-6 (W. Va. Apr. 22, 2024) (quoting *Nesselroad v. State Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd.*, 225 W. Va. 397, 399, 693 S.E.2d 471, 473 (2010) (per curiam)).

believes the findings to be clearly wrong."³⁴ "Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to *de novo* review."³⁵ As this Court recently noted, "[t]he judiciary is the final authority on issues of statutory construction, and [is] obliged to reject administrative constructions that are contrary to the clear language of a statute."³⁶

Previously, this Court has employed the analytical framework set forth by *Chevron* and its progeny when reviewing an agency's construction of a statute that it administers.³⁷ This analysis involves two separate but interrelated questions:

We first ask whether the Legislature has 'directly spoken to the precise [legal] question at issue.' *Chevron*, 467 U.S. at 842, 104 S. Ct. at 2781, 81 L.Ed.2d at 702–03. 'If the intention of the Legislature is clear, that is the end of the matter.' *Id.* If it is not, we may not simply impose our own construction of the statute. 'Rather, if the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the question for the court is whether the [agency's] answer is based on a permissible construction of the statute.'³⁸

As this Court has noted, "[n]o deference is due to the agency's interpretation at [step one of the *Chevron* framework]"³⁹ and "'[r]espectable authority indicates it is appropriate to employ all the 'traditional tools of statutory construction' in the first part of the *Chevron* analysis when the statutory language is not dispositive."⁴⁰

³⁴ Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *W. Va. State Police v. Walker*, 246 W. Va. 77, 866 S.E.2d 142, 144 (2021) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W. Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996)).

³⁵ Syl. Pt. 1, *Appalachian Power*, 195 W. Va. at 578, 466 S.E.2d at 429.

³⁶ Syl. Pt. 3, *War Mem'l Hosp., Inc. v. W. Va. Health Care Auth.*, 248 W. Va. 49, 50, 887 S.E.2d 34, 35 (2023) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5, *CNG Transmission Corp. v. Craig*, 211 W.Va. 170, 564 S.E.2d 167 (2002)).

³⁷ *Appalachian Power*, 195 W. Va. at 582, 466 S.E.2d at 433 (citing *Chevron*, 467 U.S. 837, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 81 L. Ed.2d 694 (1984)).

³⁸ *Id.*, 466 S.E.2d at 433 (quoting *Sniffin v. Cline*, 193 W. Va. 370, 374, 456 S.E.2d 451, 455 (1995)).

³⁹ *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 3, in part; *see also Kentuckians for Commonwealth Inc. v. Rivenbaugh*, 317 F.3d 425, 443 (4th Cir. 2003) ("Agency interpretations of statutory provisions only come into play if Congress has not spoken clearly.").

⁴⁰ *Id.* at 586, 466 S.E.2d at 437 (citing *INS v. Cardoza–Fonseca*, 480 U.S. 421, 107 S. Ct. 1207, 94 L. Ed.2d 434 (1987)).

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in *Loper* overruled *Chevron*,⁴¹ and St. Joseph's submits that this Court should therefore abandon the *Chevron* framework.⁴² The *Loper* Court held that "[c]ourts must exercise their independent judgment in deciding whether an agency has acted within its statutory authority" and "may not defer to an agency interpretation of the law simply because a statute is ambiguous."⁴³

VIII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THIS COURT SHOULD OVERRULE ITS CASES APPLYING *CHEVRON* DEFERENCE AND HOLD THAT A REVIEWING COURT MUST EXERCISE INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT IN DECIDING WHETHER AN AGENCY HAS ACTED WITHIN ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY.

For nearly 40 years, federal courts have looked to the two-step framework established in *Chevron*⁴⁴ to determine whether an agency has properly construed a statute that it administers. However, on June 28, 2024,⁴⁵ the United States Supreme Court overruled *Chevron* and held that "Courts must exercise their independent judgment in deciding whether an agency has acted within its statutory authority, as the [federal] APA requires" and "need not and under the [federal] APA may not defer to an agency interpretation of the law simply because a statute is ambiguous."⁴⁶ In doing so, the Supreme Court relied on Section 706 of the federal Administrative Procedure Act ("Federal APA") which "specifies that courts, not agencies, will decide '*all* relevant questions of law' arising on review of agency action[.]"⁴⁷ The Supreme Court noted that "agencies have no special competence in resolving statutory ambiguities" but that "[c]ourts do."⁴⁸ According to the

⁴⁷ *Id.* at 2261, 219 L Ed.2d at 854.

⁴¹ See Loper, 144 S. Ct. at 2273, 219 L Ed.2d at 867.

⁴² See Section VIII.a, infra.

⁴³ *Loper*, 144 S. Ct. at 2273, 219 L Ed.2d at 867.

⁴⁴ 467 U.S. at 837, 104 S. Ct. at 2778, 81 L. Ed.2d at 694.

⁴⁵ This Argument could not have been raised below because the ICA issued its opinion before *Loper* was decided.

⁴⁶ *Loper*, 144 S. Ct. at 2273, 219 L Ed.2d at 867.

⁴⁸ *Id.* at 2266, 219 L Ed.2d at 859.

United States Supreme Court, there is a "best reading" of a statute—""the reading the court would have reached' if no agency were involved"—and that is the only permissible reading.⁴⁹

While this Court was not bound to apply the *Chevron* framework when reviewing state agency decisions, the Court has often referred to federal law where state law is patterned after it.⁵⁰ In February of 1995, this Court first applied the *Chevron* framework in reviewing the propriety of an administrative decision.⁵¹ In September of 1995, the Court incorporated the *Chevron* analysis into three new syllabus points.⁵² The only clue that the Court gave for adopting the *Chevron* two-step analysis was by noting that "*Chevron*, of course, was a watershed decision in the area of judicial deference to regulatory decisions."⁵³

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