#### No. 24-347

#### IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEA **6S**<sup>A</sup> **EFiled: Dec 09 2024** 01:24PM EST Transaction ID 75174424

# ST. JOSEPH'S HOSPITAL OF BUCKHANNON, INC. PETITIONER,

vs.

#### STONEWALL JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL COMPANY AND THE WEST VIRGINIA HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY RESPONDENTS

#### STONEWALL JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL COMPANY'S BRIEF

#### From The West Virginia Health Care Authority CON File #23-7-12659-X

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

SJH has appealed to this Court the Authority's DOR decisions under W. Va. Code § 16-2D-7 in the original and Amended DOR, as upheld by the ICA, arguing that a CON is required for Stonewall to totally relocate its hospital. This Court should review the findings of the ICA and the DOR decisions of the Authority and determine that *stare decisis*, based on the Authority's longstanding interpretations of W. Va. Code §§ 16-2D-8(a)(1) and (5), support and require a finding that Stonewall did not need a CON in this instance. For these reasons, as more fully discussed herein, this Court should uphold the ICA and the Authority's DOR decisions concluding that Stonewall is not required to obtain a CON to totally relocate its hospital.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument is not necessary to aid the Court's decision. Accordingly, Stonewall does not request oral argument, and it suggests to the Court that a memorandum decision affirming the ICA's Opinion affirming the Amended Decision on Request for Ruling on Reviewability, (JA 0025-35, JA 0001-0024), would be sufficient to resolve this case.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court has yet to set forth the standard of review on an appeal from the ICA relating to a decision by the Authority. In *Duff v. Kanawha County Commission*, 905 S.E.2d 528, 2024 W.

Va. LEXIS 175 (April 22, 2024), this Court addressed an appeal from the ICA of a Workers'

Compensation Board of Review decision, and it stated at Syllabus Point 3 as follows:

On appeal of a decision of the West Virginia Workers' Compensation Board of Review from the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia to the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, the Supreme Court of Appeals is bound by the statutory standards contained in West Virginia Code § 23-5-12a(b) (eff. Jan. 13, 2022). Questions of law are reviewed de novo, while findings of fact made by the Board of Review are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong.

Previously, in Amedisys West Virginia, LLC v. Personal Touch Home Care of West Virginia,

Inc., 245 W. Va. 398, 859 S.E.2d 341 (2021), this Court set forth the standard of review for the

Authority's decisions in the following four syllabus points:

1. """Upon judicial review of a contested case under the West Virginia Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 29A, Article 5, Section 4(g), the circuit court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The circuit court shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decisions or order are: '(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or (4) Affected by other error of law, or (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.' Syllabus point 2, Shepherdstown Volunteer Fire Department v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 172 W.Va. 627, 309 S.E.2d 342 (1983)." Syllabus, Berlow v. West Virginia Board of Medicine, 193 W.Va. 666, 458 S.E.2d 469 (1995).' Syl. Pt. 1, Modi v. West Virginia Bd. of Medicine, 195 W.Va. 230, 465 S.E.2d 230 (1995)." Syl. Pt. 1, W. Va. Med. Imaging & Radiation Therapy Tech. Bd. of Exam'rs v. Harrison, 227 W. Va. 438, 711 S.E.2d 260 (2011).

\* \* \*

3. "'If legislative intent is not clear, a reviewing court may not simply impose its own construction of the statute in reviewing a legislative rule. Rather, if the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the question for the court is whether the agency's answer is based on a permissible construction of the statute. A valid legislative rule is entitled to substantial deference by the reviewing court. As a properly promulgated legislative rule, the rule can be ignored only if the agency has exceeded its constitutional or statutory authority or is arbitrary or capricious. W. Va. Code, 29A-4-2 (1982).' Syl. Pt. 4, *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of W. Va.*, 195 W. Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995)." Syl. Pt. 6, *Murray Energy Corp. v. Steager*, 241 W. Va. 629, 827 S.E.2d 417 (2019).

4. "'Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to *de novo* review.' Syl. Pt. 1, *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of W. Va.*, 195 W. Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995)." Syl. Pt. 2, *Steager v. Consol. Energy, Inc.*, 242 W. Va. 209, 832 S.E.2d 135 (2019).

5. Where the State Health Plan Home Health Services Standards were promulgated by the West Virginia Health Care Authority (formerly the West Virginia Health Care Cost Review Authority) pursuant to a legislative grant of authority, West Virginia Code §§ 16-2D-1 to -20 (2016 & Supp. 2020), authorized by the Governor, and formally adopted and given full force and effect by the Legislature, see id. § 16-2D-6(g), the longstanding, consistent interpretation of those Standards by the West Virginia Health Care Authority, being neither arbitrary nor capricious, is entitled to judicial deference pursuant to *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837 (1984).

This Court should apply this standard of review in this case and determine as a matter of

law that the Authority's DOR Decisions, as affirmed by the ICA in this matter, are not in error, and

they should be summarily affirmed as a matter of law.

#### ARGUMENT

I. SJH HAS WAIVED ANY ARGUMENT UNDER *LOPER* BECAUSE IT FAILED TO PROPERLY PRESERVE THIS ISSUE BELOW AND, FURTHER, *LOPER* DOES NOT REQUIRE THIS COURT TO OVERRULE ANY PRIOR DECISIONS.

On or about July 3, 2024, SJH filed a Motion to Amend its Notice of Appeal to raise for the first time an additional assignment of error "based upon the Supreme Court of the United States['] recent decision in *Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo*, No. 22-1219, 2024 WL 3208360, at \*1 (U.S. June 28, 2024), which overruled *Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def.*  *Council, Inc.,* 467 U.S. 837, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 2778–79, 81 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1984)." This Court permitted the amended notice of appeal in its scheduling order entered July 22, 2024. SJH argued in its first assignment of error that the Supreme Court's *Loper* decision requires this Court to "overrule syllabus points two through four of *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't*, 195 W. Va. 573, 579, 466 S.E.2d 424, 430 (1995) and its progeny and hold that a reviewing court must exercise independent judgment in deciding whether an agency has acted within its statutory authority."

Stonewall disagrees with SJH's first assignment of error for two reasons: first and foremost, SJH has not properly preserved this issue under *Loper* before the Authority or the ICA, and this Court should not consider this issue for the first time on appeal; and, second, even if this Court decides to consider the *Loper* issue, the Supreme Court in *Loper* recognized two critical points that are missed by counsel for SJH: a) the Supreme Court specifically recognized in *Loper* that prior case law need not be overruled; and b) the Supreme Court specifically recognized in *Loper* that longstanding decisions of an administrative agency may continue to be entitled to deference.

### A. This Court has long recognized that issues must be raised in the tribunal below and that it may not consider nonjurisdictional issues raised for the first time before this Court on appeal.

This Court may take notice that the Petition for Certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court in the *Loper* case on November 10, 2022, Docket No. 22-451, and the Petition was granted by the Supreme Court on May 1, 2023. This Court may further take notice that the demise of *Chevron* was openly discussed, even in advance of the Supreme Court accepting the *Loper* Petition, in light of the filing in *Loper*. *See e.g., Response: Chevron's Ghost Rides Again, An Invited Response to Gary S. Lawson, The Ghosts of Chevron Present and Future*, 103 B.U. L. Rev. 1647 (Jan. 1, 2023). Thus, it can be said that the potential for the overruling of *Chevron* was something that was generally expected in legal circles well in advance of the Supreme Court's ultimate *Loper* decision on June 28, 2024.<sup>7</sup>

This background is important since Stonewall's request for a DOR was filed with the Authority on March 29, 2023, (JA 0595-0597), after the *Loper* Petition for Certiorari had been filed. SJH's filings before the Authority in April 2023, indicate that at no time did SJH raise any *Chevron* issue before the Authority. (JA 0208-0589). After the Authority issued its DOR Decision, SJH appealed the case to the ICA. SJH never raised an issue before the ICA that *Chevron* deference should not apply. In fact, at page 8 of its Brief filed with the ICA, it recognized the *Chevron* standard of deference, citing this Court's decision in *Appalachian Power Co., supra.* (JA 0145). Based upon the foregoing, it is clear that this first assignment of error was not raised below, and it is now raised for the first time before this Court.

In *Berkeley County Council v. Government Properties Income Trust LLC*, 247 W. Va. 395, 406, 880 S.E.2d 487, 498 (2022), this Court discussed its general rule for considering nonjurisdictional issues that were not raised before the Circuit Court as follows:

This Court's general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions not raised at the circuit court level will not be considered [for] the first time on appeal. *Whitlow v. Bd. of Educ. of Kanawha County*, 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993).

The rationale behind this rule is that when an issue has not been raised below, the facts underlying that issue will not have been developed in such a way so that a disposition can be made on appeal. Moreover, we consider the element of fairness. When a case has proceeded to its ultimate resolution below, it is manifestly unfair for a party to raise new issues on appeal. Finally, there is also a need to have the issue refined, developed, and adjudicated by the trial court, so that we may have the benefit of its wisdom.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> SJH's Brief at page 12 implicitly recognizes this point as it discusses that *Chevron* has been under attack since 2016.

This Court has applied the same general rule for issues that were not raised before an administrative agency in *Noble v. West Virginia DMV*, 223 W. Va. 818, 821-22, 679 S.E.2d 650, 653-54 (2009) as follows:

"Our general rule is that nonjurisdictional questions . . . raised for the first time on appeal, will not be considered." Shaffer v. Acme Limestone Co., Inc., 206 W.Va. 333, 349 n.20, 524 S.E.2d 688, 704 n.20 (1999). See also, Whitlow v. Board of Education, 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993) ("Our general rule in this regard is that, when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal."); Konchesky v. S.J. Groves & Sons Co., Inc., 148 W.Va. 411, 414, 135 S.E.2d 299, 302 (1964) ("[I]t has always been necessary for a party to object or except in some manner to the ruling of a trial court, in order to give said court an opportunity to rule on such objection before this Court will consider such matter on appeal."). Further, if a party fails to properly raise a nonjurisdictional "defense during [an] administrative proceeding, that party waives the defense and may not raise it on appeal." Hoover v. West Virginia Bd. of Medicine, 216 W.Va. 23, 26, 602 S.E.2d 466, 469 (2004), quoting Fruehauf Trailer Corp. v. W.C.A.B., 784 A.2d 874, 877 (Pa.Cmwlth. 2001).

In this case, the *Chevron* deference standard is a nonjurisdictional issue and, therefore, under the general rule, this Court should not consider SJH's first assignment of error because it was never raised below before either the Authority or the ICA. On this basis, this Court should deny the first assignment of error.

# B. The Supreme Court recognized in *Loper* that prior case law under *Chevron* need not be overruled and that longstanding decisions of an administrative agency may continue to be entitled to deference.

SJH asks this Court in its first assignment of error to "overrule syllabus points two through four of *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't.*, 195 W. Va. 573, 579, 466 S.E.2d 424, 430 (1995) and its progeny and hold that a reviewing court must exercise independent judgment in deciding whether an agency has acted within its statutory authority." This is a complete misreading

of the Supreme Court's Loper, which decision specifically declined to overturn Chevron, 144 S.

Ct. 2272-73:

This is one of those cases. *Chevron* was a judicial invention that required judges to disregard their statutory duties. And the only way to "ensure that the law will not merely change erratically, but will develop in a principled and intelligible fashion," *Vasquez v. Hillery*, 474 U. S. 254, 265, 106 S. Ct. 617, 88 L. Ed. 2d 598 (1986), is for us to leave Chevron behind.

By doing so, however, we do not call into question prior cases that relied on the Chevron framework. The holdings of those cases that specific agency actions are lawful—including the Clean Air Act holding of *Chevron* itself—are still subject to statutory *stare decisis* despite our change in interpretive methodology. *See CBOCS West, Inc. v. Humphries,* 553 U. S. 442, 457, 128 S. Ct. 1951, 170 L. Ed. 2d 864 (2008). Mere reliance on *Chevron* cannot constitute a "special justification" for overruling such a holding, because to say a precedent relied on *Chevron* is, at best, "just an argument that the precedent was wrongly decided." *Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc.,* 573 U. S. 258, 266, 134 S. Ct. 2398, 189 L. Ed. 2d 339 (2014) (*quoting Dickerson v. United States,* 530 U. S. 428, 443, 120 S. Ct. 2326, 147 L. Ed. 2d 405 (2000)). That is not enough to justify overruling a statutory precedent.

Courts of Appeals have issued decisions since *Loper* and have recognized that *Loper* did not overrule *Chevron* and its progeny. *See e.g., Tennessee v. Becerra*, 117 F.4<sup>th</sup> 348, at \*21 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2024) (*"Loper Bright* opens the door to new challenges based on *new* agency actions interpreting statutes, it forecloses new challenges based on specific agency actions that were already resolved via *Chevron* deference analysis." (emphasis in original)) and *Lopez v. Garland*, 116 F.4<sup>th</sup> 1032, 1045 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2024) ("the Supreme Court has instructed that *Loper Bright Enterprises* does not 'call into question prior cases that relied on the *Chevron* framework.' 144 S. Ct. at 2273."). Based on this holding and, as it has been applied by other courts, this Court should reject SJH's request to overrule *Appalachian Power Co.* and its progeny.

Further, the Supreme Court recognized in Loper that longstanding interpretation of agency

matters within their expertise were still entitled to deference, 144 S.Ct. at 2262:

Courts exercising independent judgment in determining the meaning of statutory provisions, consistent with the APA, may—as they have from the start—seek aid from the interpretations of those responsible for implementing particular statutes. *See Skidmore*, 323 U. S., at 140, 65 S. Ct. 161, 89 L. Ed. 124.

It went on to say, 144 S. Ct. at 2267:

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